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PREFACE Inthe summer of 1898, loggers carved a ninety-seven acre
clearing out of a dense forest of old-growth timber high on Magnolia Bluff
at the outskirts of Seattle, Washington. Over the next ten years, construction
crews hauled Chuckanut sandstone and other building materials from a
makeshift dock on Salmon Bay through the forest to the site of Seattle’s new
army post. Seattle businessmen had struggled for nearly four years to win
a military installation for their community in hopes of bolstering the local
economy. Landholders on Magnolia Bluff had donated over 700 acres to
the United States government when the site was chosen. In 1900, upon com-
pletion of the first seven permanent buildings, the new post was christened
Fort Lcrw‘ton in honor of Henry Ware Lawton, a veteran of the Indian Wars.

Secrrtle S hlgh hopes Ior a rna]or reglmental post were never realized. Con-
struction at Fort Lawton virtually ceased by 1910 leaving a modest collection
of twenty-five frame, classically-influenced buildings situated around an
oval parade ground. Although Fort Lawton grew impressively during World
War II, becoming the second largest point of embarkation on the west coast,
it was garrisoned much of its life by only two to four companies of infantry. As
early as 1917, Sedattle citizens expressed their desire to regain the spectacular
Magnolia Bluff site for use as a city park. The Army stayed on until 1972, and
then transferred a portion of Fort Lawton to the city. Discovery Park, the long-
time dream of many Seattle groups and individuals, became a redality.

Since that time, another large portion of the post, including the historic core
of twenty-five buildings around the parade ground, was surplused by the
Army and added to Discovery Park. To preserve these buildings and meet
federal compliance requirements, a Memorandum of Agreement between
'ihe City of Sedattle, the Washington State Historic Preservation Officer, and the



federal government was signed in conjunction with the transfer Part of this
agreement required that the buildings within the Fort Lawton Historic District
(National Register, 1978) be recorded according to the standards of the His-
toric American Building Survey.

Thus in the summer and fall of 1981 the National Park Service, Pacific North-
west Region, sponsored a recording team under the direction of Dr. Allan
Comp, Acting Chief of Cultural Programs. During the course of the ten-week
project, a historian, four architects, and a photographer documented the
historic district with research, measured drawings, and record photographs.
These materials will be housed for future reference and study in the Library
of Congress and the University of Washington libraries.

Many people have contributed to the considerable body of knowledge
that exists on old Fort Lawton. Seattle’s Fort Lawton is published in an effort
to bring together this research in an accessible, narrative format. An anno-
tated bibliography is included for those who may wish to dig still deeper

It is hoped that this booklet might serve future visitors and citizens of the city
as a permanent record of the history and physical fabric of Seattle’s only
army post.
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View of parade grounds, looking southwest, 1974

BEFORE THE FORT When the mst transcontlnental railroad reached the
Pacific Northwest in 1883, Washington Territory stood at the threshold of
unimagined growth. The boom that followed the completion of the North-
ern Pacific Railroad to Portland and Tacoma affected the population,
agriculture, trade and industry of the entire region. Cities and towns ex-
perienced overnight speculative expansion. Dreaming of the riches and
progress that rail connections and overseas trade might bring, settlements

<2>n Puget Sound became acutely aware of their own unrealized potential.



Over the next few decades, Seattle and Tacoma competed in a fierce race
for control of the region’s developing commerce. Having lost in its bid as
terminus of the Northern Pacific’s transcontinental route, Seattle was deter-
mined to reassert its dominance on Puget Sound. One element of this lively
intercity rivalry was the competition for a permanent United States military
installation that might serve to strengthen the local economic base. The
prosperity of the Puget Sound region faltered along with the rest of the
nation’s in 1893, and the resulting depression further intensified the contest
toto attract a ma)or army post.

1894 U.S. Geological Survey Map of Seattle. When the
Department of the Columbia first recommended the con-
struction of an army post in Seattle in 1894, Magnolia Bluff
was densely forested and largely uninhabited. On the
opposite shore of Salmon Bay, Ballard was a thriving com-

munity in its own right. Lower Queen Anne Hill had begun to
take on an air of urbanity.

The King County Comrmssmners were the first to officially request the estab-
lishment of such a post in Sedattle. In their letter of March 1886, to Secretary
of War Endicott, the Commissioners offered to donate suitable land to the
government, and set forth the following reasons for their request:

First. Said City of Sedttle is the center of commerce, trade, and travel of
Western Washington...Second. On account of its contiguity to the coal
mines, its central location and ease of access said city is more likely to
be chosen as the theatre for lawless demonstrations and outbreaks
by all the disorderly elements within its reach...For that reason troops
should be at hand should such circumstances arise as to necessitate
their use as a posse commitatus. Third. There is now no post in the
Department of Columbia (Vancouver Barracks) from which troops
could be moved...either by rail or water, with greater ease or facility



than...Sedattle. Fourth. Sedattle is the most convenient point from which
to reach any point on the British boundary line.. Fifth. With rail connec-
tion with the whole country and a regular steamship line to San Fran-
cisco, Sedattle is one of the most convenient and cheapest places for
supplies...."

The military’s response to the King County Commissioners was not encour-
aging. The Commanding General of the Department of the Columbia
warned against the "multiplication of small garrisons” and stated that he
“would not recommend anything further than an occasional encamping of
troops in the vicinity of Seattle.”
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orical Society of Seattle and King County

Seattle, looking northwest from Beacon Hill Magnolia Blutf
n the background, circa 1897

It was not untll 1894 that the concept of a post in Seattle was wholeheartedly

advocated by certain Army personnel. Brigadier General, Elwell S. Otis,
then commanding the Department of the Columbia, described and specifi-
cally recommended a site on Magnolia Bluff in Seattle in his annual report
to the Secretary of War Otis endorsed the Sedattle site primarily for peace-
keeping rather than defensive purposes:

In some locdality of the northern section of this state beyond the Cascade
Mountains, where now dwell 100,000 people, part of whom are restless,
demonstrative, and oftentimes turbulent upon fancied provocation, and
a population, too, which is destined to be greatly augmented within a
brief period of time, one moderately large garrison should be estab-
lished and permanently maintained. The vicinity of Seattle offers the
most favorable conditions for location, as that is the center of a small
territory in which the future use of troops will be demanded, and the
place at which exhibitions of lawlessness beyond the power of the State




to control have so frequently manifested themselves. A short distance
beyond the city, extending into the waters of the Sound, Magnolia Bluff,
one of the most important points selected by the Fortification Board for
defensive works, would appear to be the proper site for the post of an
infantry garrison.?

At the same time Tacoma was promoting a 70,000 acre site on American
Lake.?

Greatly encouraged by Oftis’ report, Seattle’s Chamber of Commerce
appointed an Army Post Committee consisting of prominent citizens such as
Judge Thomas Burke, John Leary, and Edward O. Graves. This committee
plunged into its work, initiated negotiations to acquire land for donation to
the government, and drafted a Congressional bill which authorized the
creation of a post at Magnolia Bluff. Senator Watson Squire introduced the
bill in Congress in January, 1895. Meanwhile, Tacoma again entered the
race with a bill introduced by Senator Doolittle of that city, authorizing the
establishment of a post near Tacoma. Point Defiance was the site the
Tacoma Chamber of Commerce had in mind.

The compromise legislation that resulted from these efforts was enacted by
Congress 2 March 1895. It authorized the Secretary of War:

...to establish a military post at such point on Puget Sound as shall in his
judgement best subserve the public interests, provided that six hundred
and forty acres of land suitable for the purpose shall be donated free of
cost to the United States.®

Two boards were subsequently appointed to recommend a site. The first
board, which included General Otis, was suspected of bias when it ad-
vocated the Magnolia Bluft site. The second board, however, also chose
Magnolia Bluff in Seattle, and the creation of Fort Lawton was assured. On
2 March 1896, Secretary of War Daniel S. Lamont accepted the Sedattle site
on the further condition that a total of 704 acres of land be conveyed to
the government.®

Military records indicate that, in general, the Army intended the future mili-
tary installation at Magnolia Bluff to serve as a regional infantry post whose
role would be to maintain domestic peace within western Washington,
rather than as a primary coastal or harbor defense post.” As the railroad

altered the face of the Northwest wilderness, a military presence was
5



required at each of the three major transportation and population centers
within the jurisdiction of the Department of the Columbia.® Vancouver Bar-
racks had long met that need for the Portland-Willamette Valley area, and
Fort George Wright, established in 1900, would soon serve Spokane and the
interior Between 1880 and 1890, the population of the central Puget Sound
area swelled beyond that of Portland and the Willamette Valley, and the
Army recognized the necessity of shifting garrison strength to this region.’ By
the time of General Otis’ annual report to the Secretary of War in 1895, Fort
Townsend, an Indian post established in 1846, had been destroyed by fire
and abandoned. The Puget Sound region was virtually without a garrison
of troops. At precisely this moment, the City of Seattle sought a military post
to revitalize its depressed economy. However, had the time not been mili-
tarily and politically ripe (as it had not been for the King County Commis-
sioners in 1886), the City’s efforts might never have met with such success.

Courtesy of Frederick Mann

Indian Charlie’s house on Salmon Bay, circa 1900

Havmg soundly deteated Tacomct in the competmon for a military post,
Seattle immediately began the serious task of canvassing for the necessary
donations of land from public-spirited citizens. The task proved long and
arduous. The Land Acquisition Committee of the Chamber of Commerce
encountered such difficulties as absentee owners, squatters, and minors in
ownership. To make matters worse, the Army increased its acreage require-
ments in the midst of the process, asking for tidelands and road rights-of-
way.!° The commiittee faced a particularly thorny problem in attempting

to acquire title to the property of Christian Scheuerman on Salmon Bay.
Scheuerman, his Indian wife, and their numerous children owned some

150 acres that included what is now Bay Terrace, Lawtonwood, and the
6



former Fort Lawton rifle range. In the end, the committee was unable to
successfully negotiate with Scheuerman and the Army was never able to
acquire the crucial frontage that it needed along Salmon Bay!!

On 21 June 1897, the Secattle Post-Intelligencer announced the completion
of the committee’s work and praised its efforts:

The happy consummation of the long and patient struggle to secure
the location here of the Army post is a matter of deep congratulation to
all citizens of Seattle and a debt of gratitude is due to the Army Post
Committee who have worked so earnestly in so long a matter. It has
been in many instances a task to severely try the patience of those who
took it upon themselves. The difficulties in acquiring title to the prop-
erty so as to convey to the government the precise area which was
demanded was in itself a formidable matter. A relatively large sum of
money had to be raised and this at a time when the pressure of the
commercial depression was the most severe, and when it seemed
almost impossible for the people to share money for any purpose not
connected directly and immediately with their business interests.

Edward O. Graves, President of the Seattle Chamber of Commerce,
reported on the success of the committee in acquiring title to nearly 100
acres of land in a letter of @ October 1897, to the Secretary of War At that
point some 641 acres of upland, 337 acres of tidelands, and 12 acres for
roadways had been acquired.'? By February of the following year these
lands had been conveyed to and, for all intents and purposes, accepted
by the United States Government.!3

During the long and difficult months of land acquisition, committee mem-
bers grew increasingly concerned over the Army’s plans for the new post.
Representing the Chamber of Commerce, Edward Graves and other indi-
viduals sent several worried letters to the Secretary of War expressing in no
uncertain terms their dismay that the post might be less than regimental in
size. The citizens of Sedttle, he stated in his letter of 9 October 1897, expected
nothing less than a full regiment of artillery to be garrisoned on Magnolia
Bluff. Land acquisition efforts, he assured the Secretary, depended entirely
upon this understanding. The Chamber of Commerce’s disappointment

at the threatened reduction of the post to a mere four companies was,

as Graves described it, "great and bitter14 Secretary of War, R.A. Alger
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responded promptly in a reassuring but altogether misleading telegram
in which he asserted, "I have no other thought on the subject but to make
Magnoha Bluﬁ post a reglmentcxl one, and that is my present intention.”15

Portion of 1901 U.S. Coast and Geodetic Survey Chart. The
buildings standing on the partially-cleared post include a
double barracks, quartermaster storehouse, hospital, and
three double officers’ quarters

The site of the new army post wc:s the crest ot a strateglca]ly-smlcrted bluff on
West Point Peninsula, then six miles northwest of Seattle. The peninsula was
bounded by Elliott Bay, Seattle’s harbor, on the southwest, by Puget Sound on
the northwest, and by Salmon Bay on the northeast. A rolling plateau at its
crest, the western point of the 360-foot high hill was defined by 200 to 280 foot
sand bluffs that dropped to the waters of Puget Sound below: At the base of
the bluff, the West Point Sandspit extended some 600 yards into the Sound.
The West Point Light Station and related structures were erected there in
1881.1 On the uplands of the peninsula was a dense forest of old-growth
Douglas fir and cedar When the site selection board visited in 1896, they
noted that “trails have been cut in some places, but they are badly
obstructed by trees blown over by the wind.”!” A Ballard logging outfit had
cleared portions of the northeast slope down to Salmon Bay in earlier days,
but for the most part the remainder of the peninsula down to Interbay was
forested. From the city;, visitors could reach the post by horse or carriage, or
they could take the electric car to the Interbay station and walk two miles

tso the post.




According to a hardy reporter from the Post-Intelligencer who visited the
site in 1898 in the early stages of construction:

The road from the city to the post follows the bridge along the bluff from
North Sedttle to Interbay and thence, crossing the tracks of the Great
Northern and Seattle & International by an insecure trestle fifty feet high,
proceeds over town lots like a cow path to the site of the post. This road
has been used for many years by teamsters and farmers coming from
Pleasant Valley to the city. It is known as the old country road, and it
bears no relation whatever to the platted streets and alleys of the dis-
trict...The culverts and bridges throughout this entire road are old and
dilapidated, the bridge across the railroad tracks at Interbay has been
condemned by the city, although one side of the toppling structure has
been braced up and is still being used.

After leaving the bridge at Interbay, the road skirts across private prop-
erty in a meandering way until, if one is lucky, and the culverts do not
break through, the line of the military reservation is reached.'®
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Clearing the site. 1898

The man charged wﬂh the respon51b1hty of developing the primitive Mag-
nolia Bluff site was Assistant Quartermaster General WW. Robinson. Captain
Robinson had arrived in Seattle in July, 1896. For two anxious years he
awdaited the completion of the land transactions and the order to begin
clearing on the site. Robinson’s correspondence as Constructing Quarter-
master during this period revealed his obvious enthusiasm for his station
gmd the job ahead of him, as well as his growing frustration over the long



months of delay. In his first letter from Seattle to the Quartermaster General
he stated:

Without any spirit of complaint I desire...to respectfully invite attention

to the fact that since my appointment to the Quartermaster’s depart-
ment.. this is my sixth station, and that by these frequent changes I have
no sooner become acquainted with my duties in one than I have been
ordered to another I realize that there is hard work here and plenty of it.
[ am in excellent health, and I feel prepared to do it. I did not seek the
position, but am here, and like it, and therefore earnestly ask that I may
be left here to complete the work.!?

Nearly one year later, Robinson wrote a personal letter to one of his peers
and referred to a recent communication by Quartermaster General Weeks
in this way:

From the tone of General Weeks' telegram...I infer that he regards me
as being rather impatient relative to starting the work...I simply desired
to be the cause of no unnecessary delay and thereby considerable
expense to the government, though I must confess I would be delighted
to get the work started at the earliest possible moment, as I am tired of
idleness, even in this pleasant place, and I regard the natural features
of this site as superior to any I have ever seen.20
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This 1903 site plan shows the proposed location of four addi-
tional double barracks which were never constructed The
kidney-shaped parade ground, the administration build-
ing. nine officers’ quarters, and a series of curvilinear drives
are all in place

As the months went by Captain Roblnson busied himself with some prelimi-
nary clearing of trails and roadways. He made a contour map of the site,
hired a civil engineer, and carefully considered building types and site
plans. Acutely aware of the political climate in which he found himself,

i?oobmson attempted in at least one communication to persuade his superi-

National Archives, courlesy of Discovery Park




ors that brick was more desirable than frame construction for post buildings,
because of the heavy rainfall, and because “the people here generally will
be dissatisfied with wood structures, claiming that after the great trouble
they have had in obtaining lands for the site, they should have as good

a post as the government is building at San Francisco or Spokane.?!

In his correspondence and early site plans, Robinson revealed a remark-
able sensitivity to the site itself—its topography, vegetation, climatic condi-
tions, and vistas. He frequently used such phrases as “the natural lay of the
land,” “the best views obtainable,” "ornamental shade trees,” and “protec-
tion against...winds or storms.” In the fall of 1897, Robinson was forced to
defend his proposed site plan against charges of extravagance by his supe-
riors. The Constructing Quartermaster stood his ground and with carefully
worded arguments based on climate, topography, and views, successtully
won the Quartermaster General to his side.??2 With his official approval in
hand, Robinson waited out the long winter months, anticipating a construc-
tion go-ahead in the spring of 1898.
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Balloon framing of officers’ quarters, 1898

THE EARLY YEARS At long last, actual clearing of the land for the new army
post on Magnolia Bluff was authorized and begun in June, 1898, The initial
phase of clearing began at an east-west line south of the site of the first
barracks building and extended north to include the site of the hospital 23
Specifications for clearing and grubbing included the removal of all trees
except the ornamental shade trees, and designated all timber as the prop-
erty of the contractor The clearing and grading crews were permitted to
camp in tents pitched on the site 24

The new post grew at a modest but steady rate during its first twelve years.
ﬁ]l the buildings that arose during the early years were of frame construc-



tion and because they were based on standard plans issued by the Quar-
termaster General's Office, are similar and sometimes identical to buildings
erected at other army posts of the same period. These structures featured
foundations built of squared, randomly coursed Chuckanut sandstone occa-
sionally combined with brick; lapped cedar siding, generous double-hung
window sashes, and wide verandahs with columns or chamfered posts.
Originally, all the roofs at the new post were clad with slate from Phila-
delphia. Interior finishes included plaster on wooden lath walls, hardwood
floors, and pressed metal ceilings. The officers’ quarters and other major
buildings were hedated in the early years with steam or hot water systems
with individual coal-fired boilers in the basements. All of the very earliest
buildings were lit with mineral oil lamps.2® The first post color scheme for
building exteriors was a barn red with red-brown trim.2¢ Apparently it was
not an especially popular color combination, as photographs of circa
1907-1908 indicate that a lighter toned scheme, possibly grey and white, had
been substituted by then. The new buildings were clean and crisp, austere
yet handsome examples of turn-of-the-century military architecture with
bold details clearly reminiscent of eighteenth-century classicism.

-

Quartermaster storehouse and non-commissioned officers’
quarters, 1899

The firm of N1chols and Crothers acted as general contractors for the first
phase of construction. They set up shop in a board-and-batten shack on the
southeastern boundary of the cleared site. In 1898, on Salmon Bay, they built
a temporary dock for landing construction materials along the 500-foot of
frontage that the Army had managed to secure. The first unit of permanent
post buildings completed in December, 1899 included one double barracks,
three double officers’ quarters, two double non-commissioned officers’ quar-
tl%.rs, and one quartermaster storehouse.?” The post hospital was completed

‘r - ¥ ! o
Ambrose Kiehl photograph. courtesy of Frederick Mann



in February, 1900. At last a physical reality, Seattle’s army post still had no
name. On 9 February 1900, the new post at Magnolia Bluff was officially
designated Fort Lawton in honor of Major General Henry Ware Lawton, a
veteran of the Indian Wars Killed in action in the Philippines on 19 December
1899.

General Henry Ware Lawton, 1843-1899. Henry Lawton of
Ohio served as a young man in the Civil War prior to his
commission as second lieutenant in the 41st Infantry He
served under General Mackenzie in the Indian Wars and
later personally led the column that pursued Geronimo
through the mountains of Arizona and Mexico, receiving his
surrender Lawton was eventually promoted to Major Gen-

e _‘,,e,. eral and, during the Spanish-American War. was killed in
/ ) caSb action at the Battle of San Mateo

The Post- Intel.hgencer sent a reporter to the scene in the early stages of
construction, and the resulting article painted a glowing civilized picture of
the young post:

One comes suddenly out of the woods upon the cleared site of the post
comprising something like fifty acres. The eye is first taken by three
handsome buildings in the foreground, upon which a force of twenty-
five men is at work...Naturally the captains’ quarters are the larger and
more pretentious of the three buildings. This is a double frame dwelling,
built in the most substantial manner on a foundation of Chuckanut stone
twenty inches thick, lined with brick. Each dwelling contains twelve
rooms, including three bathrooms, toilets, laundry, coal bins, etc. The
residences are graced in front by a wide piazza, upon which it is not
difficult to imagine a group of officers with their wives and friends enjoy-
ing a magnificent view that lies to the west and north of the buildings.
The rooms are all large and well arranged.

Courtesy of Frederick Mann

First one enters a spacious reception hall, with winding stairway of oak.
Through this the visitor passes into the parlor, with its wide comfortable
fireplace. Next comes the large dining room, back of which is the
kitchen and pantry... The captains’ quarters will be heated by steam
and lighted with gas and electricity. They will have all the comforts and

- conveniences of the finest city residences... the outside finish is tongue-



and-groove matched material with cedar lap siding... The inside finish
is to be of tamarack.

.. To the west and distant perhaps an eighth of a mile are to be built the
barracks to be occupied by the enlisted men. Work has indeed begun
on these structures. They will have foundations of Chuckanut stone lined
with brick, will be heated by steam and lighted with gas or electricity...

The large area between the ridge and the barracks will form an ideal
drill ground where a regiment of men could go through the ordinary
evolutions of a regimental drill in full view of upwards of 5000 people.
Indeed, in this respect the Sedattle post is not to be equalled in the west 28

The first post engineer employed at Fort Lawton was Ambrose Kiehl, a civil
engineer hired by Robinson in 1896. In all probability Kiehl was equally
(perhaps primarily) responsible for the sensitive design of the original post
and grounds, for, along with Constructing Quartermaster Robinson, he was
intimately involved in its planning and construction from the beginning.
Kiehl himself drafted and signed many early site plans, some of which have
been preserved in the National Archives. An excellent photographer, Kiehl
recorded work and leisure life on the young army post, from the first clear-
ing of the site in 1898 to the last days of his employment at Fort Lawton in

the 1920s.

The Ambrose Kiehl family’s first board-and-batten home
was located near the hospital at the northeast corner of the
original clearing. circa 1899

When actual 51te work began Kiehl moved onto the post with his wife and
two small daughters. For a time the family lived in the rear and upstairs

of a board-and-batten shack and Kiehl worked in the office and drafting
room below After the first officers’ quarters were completed, the family

resided in the northernmost unit until transportation to school in Seattle
14

Ambrose Kiehl photograph, courtesy of Frederick Mann




became difficult for the little girls. Kiehl's eldest daughter Laura, now living
in Port Townsend, recalls with great pride her father's role in the design of
Fort Lawton. She remembers her own duty as a telephone messenger,
running to deliver messages from the only telephone on the post to
construction sites at the far corners of the reservation.??

By April, 1902, Fort Lawton had very nearly become a full-fledged, two-
company post with an administration building overlooking the parade
ground, a bake house, a guard house, and quartermaster stables. The
Commander of the Department of the Columbia noted in his annual
report of 1902 to the Secretary of War that the entire reservation was then
being enclosed by a wire fence, and that a target range of three hundred
yards had been cleared.?°

mbrose Kiehl photograph :ouﬁesy of Frederick Mann

Many more buildings were completed in 1904 and 1905, cmyloﬁg them
a second two-company barracks, a post exchange and gymnasium,

a band barracks, six new double officers’ quarters, and two new non-
commissioned officers’ quarters. In 1908, a civilian employees quarters
and a second quartermaster stables were constructed, the first buildings
on the post in which electric lighting was installed from the outset. The
vear 1908 marked the close of major construction activity at Fort Lawton

for more than thirty years.3!

The physical plan of the post was fully established by this date. The
arrangement of buildings around the oval parade ground, the cleared
and graded open spaces, the curvilinear drives, and, most importantly the
relationship of all these elements to one another and to the site itself, were
}l{:.e most distinctive characteristics of Fort Lawton’s design. The parade




ground and its ring of early twentieth century buildings remained the
visual focus of the post through the relative quietude of the next three
decades and even during the rapid expansion of World War II and
beyond. Fort Lawton was the only military post of its period in Washington
state to deviate substantially from traditional rectilinear post design, and
one of few to harmonize its buildings, drives, and open spaces soO success-
fully with the natural Iecrtures of the site.

PARADE GROUND 'I'OARRACKS

FTL.LAWTON WA SH.

ttle, Washington
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A 1909 report to the War Department on the hlstory and current capability
of the post rounds out the picture of Fort Lawton during its early period of
development.?? In addition to listing each building, its cost and date of
completion, the report described the post's fire, electric, communications,
water, and sewer systems, and evaluated the wharf and firing range. A
fire station, constructed in 1905, stood to the rear of Officers’ Row, and four-
teen hydrants were located at different points around the post. By 1909,
the Sedttle Electric Company had extended its lines to Fort Lawton. The
earliest post buildings, originally lit by mineral oil lamps were electrified
over the next several years. In 1909, Fort Lawton communicated by
telegraph cable with Forts Worden and Ward. The Independent Tele-
phone Company of Seattle connected the post with the city and a long
%istance line.



The supply of water at Fort Lawton had posed a difficult and continuing
problem from the beginning. Disagreements between the City and the
Army over responsibility for its supply had in fact been a major cause of
an initial construction delay of nearly one year In 1898, contractors Nichols
and Crothers had built a small dam in a spring-fed stream on the north
slope of the peninsula. A three-inch drive pipe was laid to a hydraulic ram
which forced water through a 1% inch pipeline about 3000 feet long, to a
rectangular wood tank in the rear of the officers’ quarters at the highest
point on the post. In addition, a connection had been made with the city
main in the same year As time went on, however, the original system had
deteriorated, and according to the 1909 reports the city supply had not
kept up owing to the growth of the surrounding community.
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< Livestock next to officers’ quarters, winter of 1899-1900

Because Fort Lawton lacked an adequate whart, the Quartermaster’s
Office in Sedattle operated the steamer "Cartright” between the city and
Forts Ward, Casey, Flagler, and Port Townsend. The original dock for the
landing of building materials at Fort Lawton had deteriorated by the time
of the 1909 report and, according to post engineer Kiehl, was not worth
repairing. Finally, Fort Lawton suffered from an inadequate firing range.
The original 300-yard range was being extended at the time of the

1909 report. Nonetheless, the dense forest and rolling terrain continually
prevented the expansion of the range to the desired 3000 yards.®>®* These
water, whart, and firing range limitations had plagued the post since its
earliest days, and although all were rectifiable, they may have been

{<71ctors in the Army’s decision not to expand Fort Lawton.



During its first twelve years, Fort Lawton’s military activity reflected the
restraints of its physical growth. Although intended primarily as an infantry
post, Fort Lawton’s very first garrisons were the 32nd Coast Artillery Corps
and the 106th Coast Artillery Corps who arrived in July and August of 1901.
The first detachment of infantry assigned to the post was Company B of the
17th Infantry, arriving 3 May 1902. Throughout its early years, Fort Lawton
remained a four-company post and was normally garrisoned by two to
four companies of infantry.

The Ambrose Kiehl family poses on the front porch of their
home in the first officers’ quarters to be completed. Laura
Kiehl is the child at the far right. Note the decorative newel-
post, the cast-iron railings. the dark color scheme, and the
potted palm

I_Jie on the post was cornespondmgly qmet and pleasant during this
period, undoubtedly an ideal environment for a young family. Laura Kiehl,
daughter of post engineer Ambrose Kiehl, fondly recalls playing freely
from one end of the post to another, crawling through sewer tunnels under
construction, romping through the woods and along the beaches. Her
family bought salmon and clams from Indian Charlie, a resident of
Salmon Bay, and held festive salmon and clam bakes on the West Point
sandspit.34

Ambrose Kiehl's photographs record picnics and family get-togethers on
the broad verandahs of the officers’ quarters. Officers also gathered for
leisure activity in the first officers’ club, a building converted by troop labor
from the original Nichols and Crothers construction office. Enlisted men
relaxed or exercised in the post exchange building after its completion in
1905. It was equipped with a gymnasium, pool table, reading room, and
lunch counter® The more adventuresome could make late night excur-
sions to the brewery at Interbay. According to Laura Kiehl, a white line
painted along the road leading back to the barracks led many a soldier
fcaﬂely back to his quarters.3®

Ambrose Kiehl photograph. courtesy of Frederick Mann



As the first phase of construction at Fort Lawton drew to a close, city officials
who had been most intimately involved in the land transfer, realized to
their dismay that the hoped-for regimental post was not materializing.

JW. Clise, President of the Chamber of Commerce, addressed the Board

of Army Posts in January, 1902 with a renewed plea for expansion at Fort
Lawton. Following a detailed presentation of the strategic reasons for
enlargement of the post in Sedattle, Clise wrote:

We have no need to affirm our political support, or in any way claim
consideration except on the just military merits of our request, which
we believe and affirm indicates this point a proper station for a full
regiment of Infantry in the new distribution of forces on which your
board is to act, and for a strong endorsement of our plea, and an
unanimous recommendation for the enlargement of Fort Lawton as
above, we confidently 1ook.37

Seattle’s hopes for a full regimental post were not to be realized for another
forty years, and the disappointment of the city fathers remained very much
alive through the next decade.
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Ambrose Kiehl photograph. courtesy of Frederick Mann

Cavalry maneuvers on the post with the Kiehl shack in the
background, circa 1900

In sp1te oI its location and contlnued small size, the Fort Lawton reservation
and its buildings and activities remained open to Seattle’s citizens. Access
to the post from the city improved greatly in the early years. The electric
street railway was extended onto the grounds of the post to a station
building some 200 yards from the Administration Building. In 1909, the
Sedattle Electric Company issued a small guide to "Trolley Trips about

lS‘;ec:z’rtle: Where to Go and How to Get There.” The Fort Lawton cars on First



Avenue ran on hourly and half-hourly schedules throughout the day. For
those inclined to military ceremony, the post offered dress parades and
guard mounts at least three days a week, concerts by the post band on
Tuesdays and Sundays, general inspections on Saturday mornings, and an
occasional "Trooping the Colors” ceremony. The trolley guide explained
that the post grounds were open to the public, and admission to officers’
quarters could be obtained by permission of the Quartermaster38

rose Kiehl photograph, courtesy of Frederick Mann

While the post was under construction, the first calvary
camped at Fort Lawton, circa 1900

Streets that closely Iollowed the tracks of this streetcar were, by 1910,
completely navigable by carriage or automobile. The Magnolia Bluffs
Parkway, a part of the Olmstead Brothers' comprehensive 1903 plan for city
parks and parkways, was authorized by 191039 It was for this reason that,
in conjunction with city officals’ longstanding disappointment in what they
viewed as underuse of the Fort Lawton site, John Olmstead was sent by the
Seattle Park Commission to report on possible improvements at the post.
Olmstead’s report described existing conditions on the post and discussed
its further development in terms of structures, roadways, open spaces,
access, and numerous amenities. Tactfully, Olmstead suggested ways in
which the citizens of Seattle might be permitted to enjoy certain areas on
the reservation more freely, particularly along the bluffs4° Although many
of his ideas were sound, his recommendations for acquiring additional
lands along Salmon Bay, constructing swimming pools on the West Point
Sandspit, hiring landscape gardeners, and installing below-grade electri-
cal conduits, revealed a misconception of local history and military post
budgets. Perhaps for this reason, the Olmstead report was forwarded by

czagncers at Fort Lawton through military channels to the Secretary of War,



and never heard of again. Subsequent forest clearing and roadway
construction at the post were generally consistent with the concepits of site
design implemented by Civil Engineer Ambrose Kiehl and Constructing
Quartermaster WW. Robinson. Although not incompatible with the
Olmstead philosophy, Fort Lawton’s site plan does not appear to have
been directly influenced by the recommendations in Olmstead’s report.

X i ’
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Baseball game on the parade grounds, circa 1906

The commumtvs dlsﬂlusmnment with the army’s no-growth policy at Fort
Lawton continued unabated in the years prior to World War II. Early in 1917,
the local newspapers first expressed interest in using the site as a public
park. The Seattle Post-Intelligencer published the following editorial

on 17 January 1917:

With the establishment of a division Army post at American Lake, it must
necessarily follow that Fort Lawton will 1ose its usefulness in the military
equation and, in time, if not at once, be abandoned...Seattle’s loss of a
small post becomes inconsequential compared with the gain to be
derived from the location of a division post to the Puget Sound coun-
try...Seattle gave to the government the ground forming the Fort Lawton
reservation—a commanding and beautiful site on Magnolia Bluff. With
the abolition of the post this reservation should revert to the municipality
and be preserved for all time as a public park. It is now practically
connected with the city’s boulevard system, only a link in the highway to
be completed...Fort Lawton, in military use has afforded vast recreation
grounds and given pleasure to countless thousands. Its beauty should

31 never be spoiled by subdivision for private uses. No doubt Uncle Sam, if



properly approached, will prove as generous as the original donor and
will readily assent to the conversion of the reservation into a park .44

The following day endorsements of that editorial by various city leaders
were printed in the Post-Intelligencer. Interestingly enough, the comments
were made by men who had been instrumental in assembling the land for
Fort Lawton, men such as Judge Thomas Burke; Mayor Hiram Gill; John T
Heffernan, former chairman of the Seattle Park Board; and George B.
Lamphere, member of the Park Board.

In January 1928, an article on Fort Lawton in the Washington Historical
Quarterly described the dilemma of the post:

It would seem Fort Lawton is destined to remain what it is now—a post
where two or three companies of infantry are stationed in peacetime,
for it is too rugged to become an airport, too small to become a training
camp, and too close to a great city to become a coast defense fortress.4

One golden opportunity to acquire the Fort Lawton site for a city park arose
in 1938 when the Army proposed to surplus the post to Seattle for the sum of
one dollar Burdened by economic hardships, the city rejected the offer
because it lacked the means to maintain the site properly.

hel Curtis photograph. Historical Photography Collection

University of Washington Libraries.

Soldiers marching. circa 1907 The post exchange. band
barracks. and guard house border the parade ground

THE INTERIM YEARS Over the next thu‘ty years, Seattle’s Fort Lawton re-
mained modest in size and influence. Limited by its terrain and the growth
of the surrounding city, the post suffered from the lack of direct rail access
and lack of a good harbor for major whart facilities on Salmon Bay. Depart-
mental commanders bemoaned the inadequate range and drill grounds.
For these and other reasons physical development at Fort Lawton in the

éu;terim years leading up to World War II was minimal. About twenty-five



new buildings were added during that period, only three of them substan-
tial in nature. Many were temporary or substandard building types con-
structed with salvage materials by troop labor—few of these have survived.

Five detached garages of light frame construction built behind the officers’
quarters on Washington Avenue are still in use, as are two brick non-com-
missioned officers’ quarters constructed in the 1930s. These quarters, the only
brick buildings on the post, were also designed after standard Quartermas-
ter General’s office plans, and are identical to some standing at Fort Lewis,
Washington. The old post wagon shed was replaced during this period by
an equipment shed/maintenance shop situated just west of the quartermas-
ter stables. In 1932, a portion of the shingle-style officers’ club (now demol-
ished), which stood to the rear of Officers Row, was built by troop labor4!

ahel Curtis phbtograph. Hkstoncai Photobraphy Collection

niversity of Washington Libraries

Officers Row along Washington Avenue, circa 1907. Post
water tower and early light standards in place

Mlll'[GtI'Y act1v1ty at Fort Lcrwton was equally low-key during the interim years.
Never a component of the coastal defense system, Fort Lawton remained
an infantry post until World War I when a detachment of Coast Artillery

was stationed there. Some movement and training of troops occurred at
Fort Lawton during the war, and local units of National Guard and Army
Reserve trained there during this period. The Seattle General Strike of 1919
led to the mobilization of federal troops within the city. One battalion of the
First Infantry was sent to Fort Lawton as a reserve and other detachments
were stationed in various locations around the city. The army’s presence
played an indirect role in controlling the unrest, at least in the eyes of citizens
opposed to the strike. 42 In addition to other units, the 6th Engineer Battalion
was stationed at the post from 1927-1940 during Fort Lawton'’s brief stint as a

geggimental headquarters.

As
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With the shift of population centers from the Portland/Willamette area and
the concentration of rail terminals at Puget Sound, Vancouver Barracks
became increasingly inadequate as headquarters for the Department of
the Columbia. Although army authorities during this period discussed the
possibility of establishing departmental headquarters in rented commercial
space in Seattle, apparently Fort Lawton was never considered. Just before
World War I, Camp Lewis was established on American Lake in Tacoma. In
1927, with the official designation of Camp Lewis as the dominant, regional
army post, Fort Lawton’s chances for regional ascendancy were buried
once and for all.43
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May 1941, Fort Lawton was placed under author-
ity of the Commanding General, San Francisco Port of Embarkation. Begin-
ning with a core of buildings not much larger than the post in 1908, a
massive expansion program to the tune of $826,000 was authorized. During
the war, 450 buildings were constructed; most of them temporary and built
from standard Quartermaster General and Army Corps of Engineer plans.
All were designed to go up quickly meet minimum standards of comfort,
and serve a variety of purposes. Some were crude, with no heat or plumb-
ing, and no exterior siding. Wartime construction affected Fort Lawton’s
original architecture as well. Extensive specialized, and often aesthetically
insensitive alterations were made to these early structures, usually with
substandard materials.4®

During World War II, Fort Lawton became the sixth largest Point of Embarka-
gifn for troops in the United States, the second largest on the West Coast, and



the fourth largest in terms of civilian employees and cargo tonnage. The
post served chiefly as a center for the induction, training, embarkation,
and debarkation of troops to the Pacific, Asia, Near East, and Alaska. Some
1,100,000 troops were processed here, inclding 6000 German and Italian
prisoners of war4’

Fort Lawton functioned as a training camp for Free Italian troops, and in this
capacity was the scene of a racial incident that was to have national ramifi-
cations. On the nights of 15 and 16 August 1944, black soldiers, angered over
the better treatment accorded the former Italian prisoners of war, attacked
the Italian troops in their barracks. Several Italians were severely beaten
and one was lynched. The incident resulted in a Congressional inquiry and
the eventual promulgation of Army guidelines on racial disturbances. 48

At long last, wartime activities at Fort Lawton brought about a significant
and positive economic impact on the city of Seattle. Simultaneously how-
ever, the community’s access to the post abruptly ended. The gates to the
fort, wide open to the public in its quiet and uneventful early years, were
suddenly closed to civilians with the advent of war On 25 July 1941, the
Seattle Times wrote, “For the first time in many years, Seattle residents will not
be able to include Fort Lawton as part of their scenic drives this weekend."4?
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ER A (Economic Recovery Act) tree pruning project along
Ofticers Row. 1933

THE POST-WAR YEARS Phy31cc11 development at Fort Lawton in the post-
war years did not match the scale of construction activity that occurred
during World War II, but neither did it return to the slow pace of the pre-
war years. In the 1950s, Fort Lawton played an important role in the Nike-
Hercules Air Defense System, the basic defense system of the continental

Izlélited States. Of forty-seven Nike units in the nation, five were in the state of



Washington, and two were at Fort Lawton, manned by the 4%9th Air Defense
Artillery group. Nike antennae with their massive radar domes were
installed on the ridge in the middle of Officers’ Row. Their construction neces-
sitated the demolition of two double officers’ quarters. In 1958, the radar
antennae were leased to the Federal Aviation Administration for air route
surveillance, although they continued to feed information to the Seattle Air
Defense into the 1970s. Throughout the post, the Army erected a number of
concrete and light steel frame buildings during the post-war years. The
largest construction project of this period, however, was the sixty-six units of
military housing erected under the provisions of the Capehart Housing Act
of 1955. Completed in 1957, the project was known as Buckey Heights, after
the first commanding officer at Fort Lawton, First Lieutenant M.C. Buckey.
The housmg is presently under the ]unsdlctlon of the Navy*0

- ".—

A 1937 aerial view of Fort Lawton shows the post much as it
appeared after completion of the first phase of construction
in 1908. All nine officers’ quarters were still in place, and an
officers’ club built in 1932 stood at the south end of Officers
Row.

Mmtary actmty at Fort Lcrwton in the post-war years reflected the transition
from a wartime to a peacetime army. The role of the Army Reserve at Fort
Lawton increased in 1957 and 1958 with construction of a training center
designed to accommodate 800 reservists. The 124th U.S. Army Reserve Com-
mand was activated with headquarters at Fort Lawton in 1968. Reserve
training remains an ongoing activity today on Fort property that is still main-
tained by the Army. The U.S. Army Garrison and the 10th U.S. Army Corp
were organized at Fort Lawton in 1958. The Tenth remained the major occu-
pant of the post until it was deactivated in 1968. Subsequently, Fort Lawton

\2/%05 designated a sub-installation of Fort Lewis®!, and remains so to date. In
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the mid-1970s when the Army ended its nearly seventy-five year occupation
of the original post, the major units in residence at the old fort were the U.S.
Army Garrison, Fort Lawton, and the 124th ARCOM, 104th Division.

In the post-war years, the community of Seattle became, for the first time,
actively and effectively involved in the fate of Fort Lawton. In 1964, Secretary
of Defense Robert McNamara announced the Army’s intention to surplus
eight-five percent of the post. Various interest groups emerged over the next
eight years, each competing for all or part of the reservation. In 1968, Citizens
for Fort Lawton Park, an alliance of local organizations in favor of acquiring
Fort Lawton for a city park, was formed. In the same year, the Department of
Defense made known its intention to establish an anti-ballistic sentinel mis-
sile base at Fort Lawton, triggering a storm of protest from the community:
With the help of Washington'’s congressional delegation, the plans were
changed and the Sentinel missiles were placed on Bainbridge Island. In
December, 1968, Senator Henry Jackson announced that Fort Lawton was a
Christmas gitt to Sedttle.

Bird's-eye view of Morad Control Center on Officers Row.
Two officers’ residences were removed to make way for its
construction in the mid 1950s; only one of the three radar

antennae remains standing todcry

In 1%9 the Bureau ot Indlan AﬁCIlI‘S expressed tentative interest in acquiring
some of the surplused Army lands. The Navy and Coast Guard announced
their desire to use portions of the property in 1970. In the same year, the
United Indians of All Tribes publically protested at Fort Lawton to regain the
surplus federal property for Seattle’s native American community. For the
Indians, the demonstration was based on moral issues, not merely on spe-
cific treaty rights. United Indians of All Tribes was ultimately successtul in

\éx{’mmng the lease of a seventeen-acre tract of land from the city, after Seattle
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had acquired the bulk of the post. The Daybreak Star Arts and Cultural
Center was competed in 1976 on this tract at the north end of the post. The
center continues to offer a varied program on Native American culture to
the general public.

Although a large portion of the post was now surplus and was available

to Sedattle as a public park, existing legislation required the city to pay fifty
percent of the property’s market value to obtain it. In October, 1970, new
legislation was introduced by Senator Jackson, at the request of Seattle offi-
cials, and signed into law: It enabled the transfer of surplus Federal property,
at no cost, to state and local agencies for park and recreational purposes.
Known informally as the “"Fort Lawton Bill,” this legislation became the
Legacy of Parks policy of the Nixon Administration. The long campaign to
reclaim the Magnolia Bluff site for the development of a large city park had
at last achieved partial success. In September, 1972, 391 acres of Fort Lawton
were transferred to the City of Seattle by the Federal Government.
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Frederick Mann photograph. courtesy of Disco

Double barracks with the Olympic Mountains
in the background, 1974

Two years later the Secretary of Defense announced that a second portion
of Fort Lawton would be declared surplus— 127 acres of the central upland
area of the post, including the original post buildings and parade ground.
Officers’ Row and the non-commissioned officers’ quarters on Montana Cir-
cle at the north end of the parade ground were assigned to the U.S. Navy for
continued use as military housing. The city had also acquired three other
small portions of the post, totaling twelve acres, in 1973, 1979 and 1981. The
Department of Defense, the Coast Guard, the Federal Aviation Administra-
tion and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Science Administration still
retain approximately 200 acres of the original post, including a portion of
ghae Fort Lawton Historic District. In accordance with Executive Order 11593,



the Army nominated some twenty-five buildings of the original army post
including the officers’ housing, to the National Register of Historic Places. The
historic district was listed in the National Register in August, 1978. The historic
core of Fort Lawton has been further recommended for designation as a
Seattle City Landmark by the Seattle Landmarks Board. Today, Discovery
Park, administered by the Sedattle Department of Parks and Recreation,
occupies some 524 acres on the site of old Fort Lawton.53
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Officers posing, circa 1907 Buildings from left to right: post
exchange, band barracks, guard house, hospital steward’s
house, hospital, administration building.

Asahel Curtis photograph. Historical Pl:xologmphy Collection

University of Washington Libraries.

Fredenék Mann photograph

Officers posing, 1974
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plans for the post, and the most thorough listing of National Archives holdings on Fort Lawton available to date.

Friedheim, Robert. The Seattle General Strike. Seattle: University of Washington Press, 1964.

Hansen, David (Historian and Chief, Washington State Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation). Personal interview, 20 August
1981, and subsequent conversations.

Headquarters, 365th Civil Affairs Area (B). “Fort Lawton Feasibility Study,” vol. 1. “Fort Lawton Building Survey,” vol. 2. Seattle: 1974.
A detailed study of the site—its history, buildings, vegetation, condition and potential uses—undertaken for the Seattle City Council by
a local unit of the Army Reserve. Building survey concentrates on current materials and condition.

“History of Fort Lawton.” Unsigned report by Captain Third Infantry, to the War Department, 1909. Photocopy in Washington Room,
Washington State Library, Olympia.

A detailed useful description of existing buildings and conditions at the post in 1909. Submitted to governor M.E. Hay by a Major JMT
Partello, April 16, 1910.

Kiehl, Laura (daughter of first post engineer at Fort Lawton). Personal interview, 19 September 1981.

Kiley Dan and Partners. “Master Plan for Fort Lawton Park.” Wings Point, Charlotte, Vermont: 1972. “Discovery Park: Revisions to Fort
Lawton.” 1974.
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Mann, Frederick (of Mann, Millegan, Morse, and Ramsey, consultants to Seattle Department of Parks and Recreation). Personal
interview, 19 August 1981, and subsequent conversations.

Mann, Millegan, Morse, and Ramsey. “Fort Lawton Buildings: A Survey and Report prepared for City of Seattle Department of Parks
and Recreation.” Sedattle, 1975.

A thorough, caretully-prepared study of the existing buildings at Fort Lawton, with major emphasis on the history and current condi-
tions of structures from the Early Period (1898-1908).

Olmstead, John C. “Special Report on the Improvement of Fort Lawton Military Reservation, Seattle, Washington.” Report to the Seattle
Board of Park Commissioners, 1910.
Olmstead’s analysis of the existing reservation, and his recommendations for the improvement of its landscape and facilities.

The Seattle Post-Intelligencer

"A Military Center” February 16, 1895.

"Army Post Assured.” March 23, 1895

“$40,000 This Year” June 21, 1897.

“"Magnolia Blutf—The Magnificent Site of Seattle’s Army Post.” November 15, 1898.
Editorial. January 17, 1917.

Letters to the Editor January 18, 1917.

Vorhees, Donald. "Fort Lawton: Study in Civic Disillusion.” October 11, 1968.

Seattle Times
“Fort Lawton Gates Closed to Sightseers.” July 25, 1941.

Solomon, 2nd Lt. Terry V. "Sound Defender: History of Fort Lawton.” Unpublished report, 1970. Photocopy in history file at Discovery
Park.
A competent in-house study, concentrating on post-World War II developments at the Fort.

Walker, Don. "A History of Fort Lawton.” Unpublished report, 1964. Photocopy in history file at Discovery Park.
A study of undetermined origin, discussing in detail the City of Seattle’s long-standing efforts to acquire the site for a public park.

Whiting, J.S. Fort of the State of Washington. 2nd ed.
Seattle: J.S. Whiting, n.d.
Public Documents

Sedattle Department of Parks and Recreation. Discovery Park— Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement: Historic
District. 5 December 1980.

Ibid. Discovery Park—Final Environmental Impact Statement. 11 June 1979.

Department of the Army. Old Fort Lawton Record Book. 1905-1938. Fort Lawton’s official Quartermaster building records kept from
1905 through 1937. Includes earliest post buildings erected from 1899. Consists of completion photos of each building, and updated
information on materials, mechanic 1 system, alterations and dates. Volume 1 at the office of the Facilities Engineer, Fort Lewis,
Washington.

National Register of Historic Places Inventory —Nomination Form for Fort Lawton. Submitted for the Department of the Army by Major

Robert E. Kavanaugh, HG, 9th Infantry Division at Fort Lewis. January, 1978.
Nomination was approved and historic district listed in the National Register in August, 1978.

Public Files

Sedattle Department of Parks and Recreation. Discovery Park files.

Washington State Office of Archaeology and Historic Preservation, Olympia, Washington. Fort Lawton files.

Seattle Department of Community Development, Office of Urban Conservation. Fort Lawton and Seattle Landmarks Board files.
National Park Service, Pacific Northwest Region, Seattle, Washington. Cultural Resources files and Surplus Property files.

Records of the National Archives, Washington, D.C.

Post Returns, Fort Lawton. Microcopy no. 617, roll no. 608. Copy in history files at Discovery Park.

Record Group 77, "Records of the United States Army Corps of Engineers.” Seattle District records at Federal Archives and Records

Center, Seattle, Washington.
Record Group 92, "Records of the Quartermaster General’s Office.”
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Record Group 94, “"Records of the Adjutant General's Office.”
Secretary of War Annual Reports. Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office.
Reports from 1894-1916 containing references to Fort Lawton at the Seattle Public Library, History and Government Division.

Squire, Watson C. "Military Post on Puget Sound.” Speeches of Honorable W.C. Squire—53rd Congress. Washington: 1895. Senator
Squire’s words on the proposed legislation of 1895. Entered as part of the Record were a letter from Secretary of War Lamont, and a
report of 1 January 1895, by General Elwell Otis describing and endorsing the Magnolia Bluff site.

Graphic Documents

1981 Historic American Building Survey record photographs of all buildings within Fort Lawton Historic District. National Park Service,
Pacitic Northwest Region, Seattle, WA.

Mann, Frederick Collection

Original prints and glass plate negatives by H. Ambrose Kiehl, first post engineer.

Series of 1974 photos by Frederick Mann of historic buildings at Fort Lawton.

Copy negatives and prints of photographs collections at: National Archives; Federal Archives and Records Center; University of
Washington; Historical Society of Seattle and South King County. Copies of early maps and site plans from the National Archives.

National Archives, Washington, D.C. Navy and Old Army Branch Standard Quartermaster General's Office (QMGO) drawings (blue-
prints) for the following early period buildings at Fort Lawton:

Plan No. 30E Guard House
61D Band Barracks
82E NCO Quarters
87E Hospital Steward Quarters
116A Quartermaster Storehouse
142Rev Officers’ Quarters (2 sheets of 7)
145A Officers' Quarters
157A Post Exchange and Gymnasium

Note: See also William Freeman, Jr's letter of 7 July 1976, to Frederick Mann for a more complete listing of photos and maps located at
National Archives.

Seattle Department of Parks and Recreation, Discovery Park
Standard QMGO drawings for the following buildings:

Plan No. 49D Bake House
15H Double Barracks

One-half reductions of QMGO drawings from National Archives for:
Post Exchange and Gym

Guard House
Quartermaster Storehouse (Bldg. #915)
Hospital Porch alteration
Copy negatives and prints from original photographs at:
National Archives
Federal Archives and Record Center, Seattle
University of Washington
Frederick Mann Collection
Numerous uncatalogued site plans, maps and drawings of Fort Lawton and its buildings in recent years.

University of Washington Libraries. Historical Photography Collection and Pacific Northwest Collection

Asahel Curtis photographs of Fort Lawton buildings and grounds, circa 1907.

Photographs of Emergency Relief Act project at Fort Lawton, 1933.

Baist's Real Estate Atlas of Surveys of Greater Seattle. Color site plans of 1905, 1908, and 1912 showing development of the post and
surrounding neighborhoods.

U.S. Naval Support Station, Seattle, Washington

Drawing files in Facilities Engineer’s Office have the following:

Incomplete set of original QMGO drawings for Officers Quarters #670.
Original QMGO drawings for 1932 brick NCO Quarters.

Numerous drawings of 1940s, 1950s, and 1960s alterations to officers’ quarters.
Numerous site plans of water, seswage, heat, and electrical systems.
Capehart housing working and “as-built” drawings.
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Miscellaneous Files and Indexes

Seattle Public Library. History and Government Division.

The Northwest File: Fort Lawton, Discovery Park

Index of local newspaper and magazine articles covering life span of the fort. Early newspaper indexing not entirely complete.
Includes some public documents.

University of Washington Libraries. Pacitic Northwest Collection.

Pamphlet file: Pacitic Northwest Forts and Blockhouse, Fort Lawton.

Contains newsclippings and short reports from late 1960s and early 1970s.

Regional Newspaper and Periodical Index: Discovery Park, 1901-1977.

Contains mostly recent listings from 1960-1977, on the property transfer and potential uses.

Washington State Library Washington Room
Newspaper clipping file: Fort Lawton
Contains pertinent local newsclippings from 1895-1981.

Note: This bibliography by no means represents a comprehensive catalogue of historic material on Fort Lawton. Other potential
sources of primary records not yet investigated are the Office of the Facilities Engineer at Fort Lewis in Tacoma, the Seattle District
Corps of Engineers Office in Seattle, and the Suitland Maryland Branch of the National Archives. These places may have received
additional Fort Lawton materials, in particular post-1938 building records, during the surplus years.
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Administration building, southern elevation
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Double barracks, northeastern elevation
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Parade grounds. taken from the nortt
General view taken from the east.
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NORTH

THE PACIFIC NORTHWEST REGION AND THE
HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDINGS SURVEY OF
THE NATIONAL PARK SERVICE SPONSORED THIS
RECORDING PROJECT WITH THE COOPERATION
OF THE SEATTLE PARKS DEPARTMENT. A
TEAM OF ARCHITECTS AND A HISTORIAN PRE-
PARED THE FIELD WORK, MEASURED DRAWINGS,
HISTORICAL REPORTS, AND PHOTOGRAPHS UNDER
THE DIRECTION OF T ALLAN COMP, PH.D., ACTING
CHIEF OF CULTURAL PROGRAMS DIVISION,
PACIFIC NORTHWEST REGIONAL OFFICE. THE TEAM
INCLUDED FLORENCE LENTZ, HISTORIAN AND
TEAM SUPERVISOR; DONNIE SEALE, ARCHI-
TECTURAL SUPERVISOR; ELIZABETH ATLY,
JEFFREY GARLID, CAROL LEMON, AND ERIC QUENCE,
ARCHITECTURAL DELINEATORS. PAUL MACAPIA
DD THE FORMAL PHOTOGRAPHY.

FORT

SEATTLE ,

LAWTON 1396 - 190086

WASHINGTON

FORT LAWTON, WASHINGTON, SEATTLE'S ONLY
ARMY POST, WAS CARVED OUT OF A DENSE CONI-
FER FOREST ON MAGNOLIA BLUFF IN 1898-1900.
SPURRED ON BY THEIR CHAMBER OF COMMERCE,
SEATTLE CITIZENS DONATED SOME SEVEN HUN-
DRED ACRES OF PRIME LAND FOR THE POST, IN
THE HOPES OF IMPROVING THEIR LOCAL ECONOMY.
IN ITS EARLY YEARS, FORT LAWTON REMAINED
MODEST IN SIZE AND INFLUENCE, OCCUPIED BY
A SMALL GARRISON OF INFANTRY SOLDIERS. DURING
WORLD WAR Il THE POST BECAME THE SECOND
LARGEST POINT OF EMBARKATION FOR TROOPS
ON THE WEST COAST.

ARCHITECTURALLY, FORT LAWTON REFLECTS
MILITARY INTERPRETATIONS OF TURN-OF-THE-
CENTURY AMERICAN ARCHITECTURAL STYLES.
THE FRAME BUILDINGS AT FORT LAWTON ARE
BASED ON STANDARD QUARTERMASTER GENERAL
PLANS AND SUGGEST INFLUENCES OF THE SHIN-
GLE STYLE, GEORGIAN REVIVAL, AND JEFFER-
SONIAN CLASSICISM. THE HISTORIC CORE OF
THE POST INCLUDES TWENTY-FIVE PRE-I910
BUILDINGS SITUATED AROUND AN OVAL PARADE
GROUND. THE SENSITIVE LAYOUT OF STRUC-
TURES, OPEN SPACE AND DRIVES AROUND THE
POST TAKES FULL ADVANTAGE OF THE SITE'S
SPECTACULAR VIEWS

0 ooy

/

\_00000#

000000

SITTOL

AFTER SEVENTY-FIVE YEARS OF MILITARY USE,
A LARGE PORTION OF FORT LAWTON WAS

TRANSFERRED TO THE CITY OF SEATTLE IN THE
1I970s FOR THE CREATION OF A PUBLIC PARK.
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SITE PLAN

|

| o g sem

MISTORIC AMERICAN
BURDINGS SURVEY
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DISCOVERY PARK
KING _COUNTY,

FORT LAWTON HISTORIC DISTRICT
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ELEVATOR DETAIL
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SECOND FLOOR |

THE FIRST QUARTERMASTER STABLES ON THE POST
WAS CONSTRUCTED IN TWO PARTS, THE SOUTHERLY
SIXTY FEET IN 1902, AND THE NORTHERLY FIFTY«ONE
FEET IN 1907 AN ORIGINAL HAND-OPERATED LIFT,
MANUFACTURED IN CINCINNATI, OHIO, PROVIDES ACCESS
TO THE LOFT. A TEN BY TEN-FOOT METAL -LINED
GRAIN ROOM AND HAY DROPS FRAMED ABOVE EACH

OF THE TWENTY-TWO STALL SPACES REMAIN IN PLACE.

A TWO-INCH PLANK WAREHOUSE FLOOR ADDED CIRCA
1940 CONCEALS THE ORIGINAL BRICK, CONCRETE, AND
CLAY STABLE FLOOR.

NORTH ELEVATION
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UNEXCAVATED

BASEMENT PLAN

FEET 1/4" « |
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METERS | a8

COMPLETED IN APRIL OF 1902, THE GUARD HOUSE IS THE
ONLY EARLY NONRESIDENTIAL BUILDING ON THE POST
WHICH CONTINUQUSLY SERVED ITS ORIGINAL FUNCTION
UNTIL SURPLUSED BY THE ARMY IN 1974. THE SINGLE
STORY PLUS BASEMENT FRAME BUILDING HAS ITS
ORIGINAL SLATE ROOFING AND GABLE SIDING. DE-
SIGNED TO HOUSE A MAXIMUM OF TWENTY-FIVE PRIS-
ONERS, THE COFINEMENT AREA CONTAINS TWO STEEL
CAGES AND THREE SOLITARY CELLS. EMBOSSED METAL
CEILINGS AND WALLS ARE EXPOSED THROUGHOUT THE
MAIN FLOOR.

|
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GUARD HOUSE™ BUILDING 759 - 1902
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THE POST EXCHANGE AND GYMNASIUM WAS COMPLETED IN
MAY OF 1905 FOR A TOTAL COST OF $20,700. WITH ITS
BROAD CLASSICAL PORTICO AND GENEROUS ARCHED EN-
TRANCE, IT WAS THE MOST FORMAL BUILDING ON THE POST.
DURING WORLD WAR TWO THE STRUCTURE WAS EXTENSIVELY
REMODELLED, INCLUDING INSTALLATION OF AN ENCLOSED
MEZZANINE IN THE GYMNASIUM, ALTERATION OF THE MAIN
ENTRANCE, AND CONSTRUCTION OF A ONE-STORY ADDITION
ALONG THE SOUTH SIDE OF THE GYMNASIUM
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EAST ELEVATION
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THE FIRST OF TWO DOUBLE BARRACKS CONSTRUCTED
AT FORT LAWTON, THIS LARGE FRAME BUILDING STANDS
ON A FOUNDATION OF CHUCKANUT SANDSTONE. COM-
PLETED IN DECEMBER, 1899, THE BARRACKS REMAIN-
ED UNOCCUPIED UNTIL THE FIRST GARRISONS ARRIVED
AT THE POST IN THE SUMMER OF 190! THE
INTERIOR WAS PARTITIONED WITH CUBICLES FOR

METERS 196 [T L /L 1)
o i 2 5

THE WOMEN'S ARMY CORPS HOUSING DURING WORLD
WAR Il , AND THE BUILDING HAS HAD ONLY INTER-
MITTENT USE SINCE THAT TIME BOLD SHINGLE
STYLE DORMERS ARE AMONG THE BARRACKS MORE
INTERESTING EXTERIOR FEATURES ORIGINALLY,
MINERAL OIL LAMPS LIT THE INTERIOR AND STEAM
HEAT WAS PROVIDED BY A COAL-FIRED BOILER.

T

DOUBLE BARRACKS: BUILDING 73l - 1899

BUILDINGS SURVEY

st 17 o0 1B warms
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KING COUNTY,
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PLAN - SECTION B-B
REDUCING COUPLING SCALE v2" « 1"
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BY 1909, FORT LAWTON WAS LIT THROUGHOUT BY
ELECTRICITY FURNISHED FROM THE CITY PLANT
OF THE SEATTLE ELECTRIC COMPANY. THE
EARLIEST STREET LAMPS ALONG OFFICERS ROW
WERE L-SHAPED IN DESIGN. THE HORIZONTAL ARMS
WERE REPLACED BY 1933 WITH THESE CURVILINEAR
ELEMENTS FOUR STREET LAMPS REMAIN STAND-
ING ON THE POST TODAY. ONLY ONE IS STILL
ELECTRIFIED, AND ITS SHADE APPEARS TO BE AN
EARLY REPLACEMENT.
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